RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

08-19-2019

COURT OF APPEALS

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP000664

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

T.A.J.,

Appellant,

v.

ALAN S. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

**APPEAL FROM THE ORDER DENYING TAJ STANDING, ENTERED IN
WAUPACA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RAYMOND S.
HUBER PRESIDING**

APPELLANT's BRIEF

LEGAL ACTION OF WISCONSIN, INC.

Attorney Andrea K Rufo
State Bar No. 1063962
Attorneys for T.A.J., Appellant

P.O. ADDRESS

LEGAL ACTION OF WISCONSIN, INC.
4900 SPRING ST. SUITE 100
RACINE, WI 53402
(T) 262.635.8836
(F) 262.635.8838
akr@legalaction.org

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

ISSUE 1: Does a victim in a criminal case have standing under Wisconsin Stat. Chapter 950 to independently oppose, orally or in writing, a Motion for *In Camera* Review of his or her mental health records?

The Circuit Court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not necessary for this appeal. The briefs submitted for the appeal will fully present the legal issues, the record is relatively short, and all relevant documents have been included in the Appendix. *See* Wis. Stat. §809.22(1)(b).¹

The decision should be published. The issues raised by this appeal affect crime victims across the state. *See* Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)(a)(5). Through Wisconsin Chapter 950, the legislature has provided crime victims with constitutional and statutory rights to protect their interests in criminal proceedings. These rights are meaningless, however, unless crime victims have a mechanism for asserting and protecting them. A published opinion in this case will establish what that mechanism is and how victims can employ it, which is a matter of “substantial and continuing public interest.” *See* Wis. Stat. §809.23(1)(a)(5). The answer to this question is especially critical to victims of sexual assault, as they commonly face demands for their private records. Victims who are aware of this uncertainty may be

¹ All statutory references in this brief are to Wisconsin Statutes 2018-19 unless otherwise specifically stated.

compelled to ignore their own treatment needs because they do not want their perpetrators to have access to their privileged and confidential counseling records. Alternatively, victims who have already sought counseling or therapy may - because of the threat that their intimate treatment details will be publicly exposed - refuse to assist in prosecutions that might produce requests for their protected treatment records.

These outcomes run directly counter to the promises made to crime victims in our statutes and constitution and undercut the public policies that crime victims' rights laws were designed to protect.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Facts of the criminal charges

According to the Criminal Complaint in this case, Alan Johnson is accused of sexually assaulting his son, the Appellant, TAJ² (R 6:1-5, A 1-5). The Complaint alleges that, for a period of several years, Johnson assaulted both TAJ and TAJ's sibling, KLJ, when they were children (R 6:3-5, A 3-5).

TAJ estimated that the abuse began while he was in Kindergarten and continued regularly until he was in Eighth grade (R 6:4, A 4). The abuse included numerous incidents of sexual assault where Johnson forced TAJ to bend over so Johnson could rub his penis against TAJ's buttocks (R

² The Supreme Court has determined that crime victims like TAJ and his sibling, KLJ, should be referred to by "identifiers" to "better protect [their] privacy and dignity interests" as crime victims. Wis. Stat. §809.86. Therefore, this Brief uses the victims' initials.

6:4, A 6). TAJ recounted at least two times Johnson grabbed and fondled TAJ's penis (R 6:4, A 4). TAJ also recounted numerous incidents that extended until he was in Twelfth grade where Johnson forced TAJ to watch pornographic images (R 6:5, A 5).

Both TAJ and KLJ reported that, during the years of assaults, Johnson was extremely controlling, and would often threaten them to prevent them from telling anyone about the abuse (R 6:3-5, A 3-5).

In November 2016, after having flashbacks and seeking counseling, KLJ decided to report the abuse (R 6:3, A 3). TAJ also came forward to report the abuse he endured (R 6:4-5, A 4-5). As a result, Johnson was charged criminally on February 2, 2017 (R 6:1-5, A 1-5).

On April 4, 2017, after bind-over, the District Attorney ("D.A.") formally filed an Information against Johnson (R 11:1-3, A 6-8). The Information charges Johnson with one count of Incest, two counts of 1st Degree Sexual assault – Contact with a Child Under Age 13, and one count of Causing a Child Under 13 to View/Listen to Sexual Activity (R 11:1-3, A 6-8). For all these counts, the victim is identified as TAJ (R 11:1-3, A 6-8). The Information also contains one count of 2nd Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, one count of Child Enticement, and four counts of Incest, for conduct involving KLJ (R 11:1-3, A 6-8).

Facts of Motion for Victims' Protected Records

As part of his defense strategy, Johnson, through counsel, sought information that would challenge the credibility of TAJ and KLJ. On September 8, 2017, Johnson filed a *Motion for an In Camera Inspection of KLJ's Mental Health Records* ("Shiffra-Green motion") (R 15:1-2). Three

months later, he filed a brief in support of that motion (R 16:1-1). The D.A. did not file a written response to Johnson's motion.

On December 13, 2017, the Court took up Johnson's motion and granted the *in camera* inspection of KLJ's records (R 17:1-1). At the hearing the D.A. either supported or did not object to the defense motion (A 15).

On March 29, 2018, Johnson filed a second *Shiffra-Green* motion, this time to obtain TAJ's confidential and privileged mental health records (R 21:1-3). The D.A. did not respond in writing to this motion.

TAJ and KLJ were concerned that they were not being properly informed of the proceedings or being consulted on the case. Worried about protecting their rights as crime victims, they each sought independent legal counsel through a new Crime Victims' Rights Project, staffed by attorneys from Legal Action of Wisconsin and Wisconsin Judicare, Inc.

On May 11, 2018, Attorneys Amanda R. Rabe and William Baynard of Wisconsin Judicare, Inc. filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of KLJ (R 29:1-2). On September 4, 2018, Attorney Andrea K Rufo of Legal Action of Wisconsin, also counsel for the Appellant, filed a Notice of Appearance on TAJ's behalf (R 38:1-2). On October 23, 2018, counsel for TAJ informed the District Attorney's office that TAJ did not want any of his privileged, confidential records released and wanted, therefore, to contest Johnson's *Shiffra-Green* motion. The D.A. still did not file any response to Johnson's motion.

On January 7, 2019, TAJ filed an objection to Johnson's *Shiffra-Green* motion (R 39:1-14). The objection included support for TAJ's

standing to file the motion (R 39:1-14). The D.A. did not file a written response to TAJ's objection.

On February 6, 2019 Johnson filed a reply to TAJ's motion. He argued that, under his interpretation of Wis. Stat. Chapter 950 and the decision in *Jessica J.L. v. State (In re Jessica J.L.)*, 223 Wis. 2d 622, 589 N.W.2d 660 (Ct. App. 1998), crime victims lacked standing to enforce their rights by briefing or by making oral arguments, specifically in response to efforts which may require them to disclose privileged and confidential mental health records (R 40:1-3).

A hearing on the standing issue was held on March 13, 2019 (R 57:1-60, A 22-82). At the hearing, counsel for TAJ and KLJ argued that crime victims have standing to respond to motions for their privileged, confidential mental health records (R 57:1-45, A 22-67). Johnson argued in opposition (R 57:30-39, A 52-61). The D.A. took no position (R 57:43, A 65).

After listening to the arguments, the Circuit Court ruled orally that crime victims have no standing to file motions in criminal cases, citing *Jessica J.L., Id.* as controlling law (R 57:45-51, A 67-73). The Circuit Court then set a date, May 24, 2019, for the required *Shiffra-Green* materiality hearing, at which time access to TAJ's records would be decided (R 57:57, A 79). The Circuit Court informed counsel for KLJ and TAJ that they would not be allowed to present arguments, in writing or orally, at the materiality hearing (R 57: 57-58, A 79-78). On March 26, the Circuit Court signed a written order denying TAJ standing (R 42:1-2, A 83).

TAJ timely filed a motion for leave to appeal on April 29, 2019 (R 45:1-20). The Court of Appeals granted TAJ’s motion on May 7, 2019, ordering that the State be named as an additional respondent in the appeal (R 51:1-2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Statutory interpretation is a question of law. *See, e.g., CED Props., LLC v. City of Oshkosh*, 2018 WI 24, ¶20, 380 Wis. 2d 399, 909 N.W.2d 136. The standard of review for questions of law, including statutory interpretation, is *de novo*. *Enbridge Energy Co., Inc. v. Dane Cty.*, 2019 WI 78, ¶ 19, 929 N.W.2d 572, 580.³

Statutory interpretation “‘begins with the language of the statute,’” and “[i]f the meaning of the statute is plain, [reviewing courts] ordinarily stop the inquiry.” *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (quoted source omitted). In interpreting statutes, reviewing courts give statutory language “its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning.” *Id.* Both the context of statutory language and the structure of a statute or series of statutes are important to meaning so “statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related

³The Court of Appeals can, of course, “benefit” from the circuit court’s analysis. *See, e.g., Jones v. Estate of Jones*, 2002 WI 61, ¶ 9, 253 Wis. 2d 158, 646 N.W.2d 280.

statutes.” *Id.* ¶46. Statutes must be interpreted “reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results.” *Id.* “Where possible,” statutory language must also be read “to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

TAJ is the victim of significant, long-term child sexual abuse by his biological father, Alan Johnson. Johnson now seeks through a *Shiffra-Green* motion to invade TAJ’s privacy and force TAJ to provide his private counseling records to the Court for an *in camera* review. If Johnson’s motion is granted, TAJ must choose to either lose his privilege and protection of his confidential records by consenting to release, or to decline to release his records and risk being barred from testifying at trial. *State v. Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 612, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993); *State v. Lynch*, 2016 WI 66, 37 Wis. 2d 1, 885 N.W.2d 89.

TAJ has sought to protect his statutory right to privacy over those records by arguing, through a written response filed by counsel, that Johnson’s request failed to meet the materiality requirements for an *in camera* inspection under *Shiffra-Green*. The D.A. took no action or position relative to Johnson’s *Shiffra-Green* motion. TAJ’s only option for expressing his legal objections to the Court, and to assert his right to privacy, is to intervene independently, through his own counsel.

Johnson argued that TAJ, as a crime victim, lacks standing to file any kind of written motion in the criminal case and, specifically, that TAJ

lacks standing to respond to a *Shiffra-Green* motion. The D.A. took no position on TAJ's standing. The Circuit Court agreed with Johnson, denying TAJ's objections to the motion and assertion of his rights.

The Circuit Court's order denying TAJ standing leaves him without a way to protect his crime victim right to privacy during the criminal proceedings. Although he might seek a remedy for a violation of his rights through some separate civil legal action, such as a petition for a writ or through a complaint to the Crime Victims Rights Board, those options will not prevent the violation of his rights in the first place, nor will those options ensure ongoing protection of them. Furthermore, if the court incorrectly decides the *Shiffra-Green* motion, there is no effective way to remedy that error because judges are immune from any liability or sanction for rights violations committed in the course of their judicial duties. *Gabler v. Crime Victims Rights Bd.*, 2017 WI 67, 376 Wis. 2d 147, 897 N.W.2d 384.

Thus, the question of victim standing in this matter lies at the heart of crime victims' rights law. Without standing, how can crime victims enforce the rights assured to them by Chapter 950 and the Wisconsin Constitution?

The Circuit Court's order is contrary to law. Under Chapter 950, the Wisconsin Constitution, and the Supreme Court's decision in *Gabler, Id.*, it is clear that crime victims do have legal standing to directly assert their rights to privacy over their privileged and confidential records, and to act in accordance with the protection of their rights during criminal proceedings.

**II. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF WIS. STAT. §950.105
GUARANTEES TAJ THE RIGHT TO OBJECT AND TO BE
HEARD, ORALLY AND IN WRITING, IN RESPONSE TO
JOHNSON'S *SHIFFRA-GREEN* MOTION**

A. Relevant Law

In the decades since Wisconsin first recognized the need to protect the rights of crime victims, victims' legal position in the criminal justice system has evolved. In addition to the general founding legal principals of respect for individual rights, Wisconsin Constitution, Article 1, §9m and Chapter 950 now guarantee specific rights for victims of crime, including the "right to privacy, to be treated with dignity and respect," and to "reasonable protections from the accused throughout the criminal justice system." Wis. Stat. §950.105 guarantees crime victims standing to assert, directly or through their own counsel, these rights and others created by statute in the course of criminal proceedings.

Wisconsin has often been at the forefront of protecting victims. The first incarnation of a victim's rights statute came in Chapter 950, passed in 1979 and published in 1980. While a monumental step forward for victim rights, the original Chapter 950 nonetheless contained a relatively anemic list of enumerated rights for crime victims and witnesses. These rights were primarily designed to ensure that victims received adequate information about court proceedings, to assist in receiving stolen property or restitution, and to create a safe space for victims at court proceedings. Of the ten enumerated rights in this original version of Wis. Stat. §950.04, nearly all of the rights are phrased as obligations of the State or a judge to do

something for an otherwise passive victim (e.g. “to be informed”; “to be notified”; “to receive”; “to be provided.”).

Moving to embrace victim rights more effectively, the passage of 1997 Wisconsin Act 181 changed Chapter 950 significantly, reflecting the legislature’s understanding that victims were not mere passive entities to be “informed” and “assisted,” but, rather, active, autonomous, interested participants with rights they could demand and enforce.

Recognition of victim agency, and the need to hold the criminal justice system accountable, was reinforced by the addition of Wis. Stat. §950.09, creating the Crime Victims Rights Board (CVRB): a board under the Department of Justice with the authority to investigate complaints alleging violations of these rights. Under the new law, if the CVRB determined that a victim’s rights had been violated, the CVRB could reprimand the public official who violated the right, assess a fine against the violator, refer the violator to the judicial commission, and obtain “equitable relief on behalf of a victim if such relief is necessary to protect the rights of the victim.” *Id.*

The legislature created the CVRB as an extra-judicial administrative process, independent of the actual court case in which a victim might otherwise seek to enforce their rights. Thus, while the CVRB represented a real commitment to protecting victim rights, its ability to protect those rights was still limited by statute to issuing a reprimand, without authority to reinstate or restore the alleged rights. *Id.* §950.09(2). Likewise, the legislature clarified that a violation of a victim’s right in a case cannot undo the completed criminal proceeding. *See* §950.09(2)(c) (“the board may not

seek to appeal, reverse or modify a judgment of conviction or a sentence in a criminal case.”).

Through 1997 Wisconsin Act 181, the legislature also amended Wisconsin Chapter 950 by revising and expanding the list of enumerated rights in Wis. Stat. §950.04. The statute was first restructured to distinguish the rights of victims (§950.04(1v)) from the rights of witnesses (§950.04(2w)), indicating the legislature’s continuing, or growing, recognition of the importance of protecting crime victims from further victimization by the criminal justice system.

The content of Wis. Stat. §950.04(1v) was also expanded, setting forth a detailed list of some thirty-six unique rights for crime victims. Several of these rights required the court to actively consider the individual interests of the victim. For example, while the original 1980 version of Wis. Stat. §950.04 expressed in Wis. Stat. §950.04(9) that victims were “entitled to a speedy disposition of the case in which they are involved,” Wis. Stat. §950.04(1v)(a) made that right enforceable: providing victims the right “to have his or her interest considered when the court is deciding to grant a continuance.” The court was now required to consider a victim’s position before granting a continuance, and, thus, also required to allow the victim an opportunity to express their interests and position on the matter. Similarly, Wis. Stat. §950.04(1v)(d) provided a victim the right to “request an order for, and to be given the results of testing to determine the presence of a sexually transmitted disease.” Under Wis. Stat. §950.04(1v)(em), victims, again, had the right to express their opinion and have the Court consider their interest in determining “whether to exclude persons from a

preliminary hearing.” None of the new statutory provisions limit the victim to any particular way of expressing or demanding these rights.

The legislature’s new emphasis on victims’ direct participation in criminal cases is apparent in other provisions of Wis. Stat. §950.04(1v). The newly constructed Wis. Stat. §950.04(1v) guarantees, for example: the right to speak at sentencing (§950.04(1v)(m)), to be interviewed as part of a presentence investigation report (§950.04(1v)(p)), to have input in parole decisions (§950.04(1v)(n)), to provide the court with information as to the effect of the crime on the victim (§950.04(1v)(pm)), and others. All of these rights presuppose that a victim might address the court and assert their right to be heard on these issues regardless of whether their wishes are consistent with the position of the district attorney.

Several years later, the legislature passed 2011 Wisconsin Act 283, enacting Wis. Stat. §950.105. This provision, entitled “Standing,” provides:

Standing. A crime victim has a right to assert, in a court in the county in which the alleged violation occurred, his or her rights as a crime victim under the statutes or under article I, section 9m, of the Wisconsin Constitution. This section does not preclude a district attorney from asserting a victim's statutory or constitutional crime victim's rights in a criminal case or in a proceeding or motion brought under this section.

This new provision of Wis. Stat. Chapter 950 directly addressed crime victims’ need for a legally protected means of making their voices heard in a criminal proceeding.

B. Wis. Stat. §950.105 unambiguously creates standing for crime victims.

Because §950.105 is unambiguous, the Court need look no further for the legal authority to grant TAJ standing in this matter. The plain language of this statute gives crime victims, like TAJ, independent statutory authority to exercise their rights in a criminal proceeding in which they are involved.⁴

To deduce the meaning of a statute, Wisconsin law requires consideration of the meaning of each word, phrase, and sentence. *State v. Quintana*, 2008 WI 33, ¶14, 308 Wis. 2d 615, 748 N.W.2d 447; *see also State v. Pratt*, 36 Wis. 2d 312, 317, 153 N.W.2d 18 (1967) (“In construing or interpreting a statute the court is not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute”). A common-sense interpretation of the statute is supported by the dictionary definition of “assert” and “standing”.⁵ Merriam Webster’s online dictionary defines “assert” both as “speaking forcefully” and as acting to “compel or demand acceptance or recognition of (something, such as one’s authority).” Merriam-Webster, *Definition of assert*, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/assert> (last visited August 13, 2019). The same dictionary defines “standing” as “a position from which one may assert or enforce legal rights and duties”. Merriam

⁴ It also codifies victims’ preexisting right to bring civil actions in appropriate cases and identifies the venue for those actions.

⁵ *See e.g., State ex re. Girouard v. Circuit Court*, 155 Wis. 2d 148, 156, 454 N.W. 2d 792 (1990) (“Resort[ing] to definitions, statutory or dictionary, is appropriate for the purpose of determining meaning that is plain on the face of the statute.”)

Webster, *Definition of standing (Entry 2 of 2)*, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/standing> (last visited August 13, 2019).⁶

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