FILED
05-13-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP664 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

T.A.J.,

Appellant,

V.

ALAN S. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, REVERSING AND REMANDING AN ORDER DENYING T.A.J. STANDING, ENTERED IN WAUPACA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RAYMOND S. HUBER PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LEGAL ACTION OF WISCONSIN, INC.

Attorney Andrea K Rufo State Bar No. 1063962 Attorneys for T.A.J., Appellant

#### P.O. ADDRESS

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Crime victims like T.A.J. have the legal authority to be heard in criminal courts, through oral and written argument, in response to motions to inspect their private records. Victims in Wisconsin derive this authority from statutory and constitutional guarantees.<sup>2</sup> Legal rights—including the rights of crime victims—lose their meaning without the enforcement mechanism of standing.

Standing is critical both to individuals who have an interest in the adjudication of a legal issue and to our adversarial legal system itself. As the United States Supreme Court stressed in a general discussion of Article III standing, that unique personal interest is what makes the legal system effective. *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S. 186, 204, 82 S. Ct. 691, 703, 7 L. Ed. 2d 663, 678 (1962). The *Baker* Court explained that the essential standing question is "[whether] the appellants [have] alleged such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy as to assure that concrete adverseness which sharpens the presentation of issues upon which the court so largely depends for illumination of difficult constitutional questions[.]" *Baker v. Carr*, 369 U.S. at 204.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These express rights to standing reflect well-rooted common law principles. When granted, standing confers on the individual in question the ability to make legal arguments by motion, orally, in writing, or by any other means of litigation. *See State ex rel. Parker v. Sullivan*, 184 Wis. 2d 668, 678 n.6, 517 N.W.2d 449 (1994). It is not uncommon for legislators to affirm or clarify the parameters of standing doctrine through legislation. In this state, legislators have enacted a victim rights statute including a provision entitled "Standing" and the voters have amended the state constitution to include provisions on standing.

Case 2019AP000664 BR2 - T.A.J. Filed 05-13-2021 Page 11 of 37

Johnson's argument ignores the long-standing common law link between a legally protected interest and the right of individuals to assert those interests to avoid an impending injury. Johnson similarly ignores that this tradition informs the plain or ordinary meaning of the word "standing." Instead, while acknowledging that victims have rights, Johnson asserts that they have lesser standing to assert them because the statutory and constitutional provisions that create victims' rights do not: (1) contain an explicit, enumerated right to "litigate" or "make legal arguments" in court; (2) grant crime victims the right to act as prosecutors; or (3) afford crime victims "party" status in criminal cases.

This strained, and ultimately circular, argument has no support in the plain language of the relevant statutory and constitutional law, producing an absurd result. According to Johnson, victims have rights, but can only protect them if they can convince someone to listen to them without making motions, writing briefs, arguing orally, or directly requesting courts to decide legal questions.

This Court, like the Court of Appeals, should reject Johnson's defective logic and affirm crime victims' standing to assert and defend their statutory and constitutional rights.

This Court should also do what the Court of Appeals did not: confirm that crime victims have standing under Wis. Stat. § 950.105, as they do under Article I, § 9m of the Wisconsin Constitution. A clear decision on that issue is essential for two reasons. First, Article I, § 9m faces a constitutional challenge in the Court of Appeals, in the pending case of *Wisconsin Justice Initiative, Inc. v. Wisconsin Elections Commission*, Court of Appeals District III, No. 2020AP2003. Absent a definitive answer to the question of whether T.A.J. and other crime victims have standing under § 950.105, the constitutional challenge will cast a shadow of uncertainty on the continuing validity of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case for months to come.

Second, even if the constitutional challenge fails, courts will have to parse for themselves how the new provisions of Article I, § 9m interact with Chapter 950.<sup>3</sup> An opinion construing § 950.105 will provide a baseline from

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As the Court of Appeals rightly noted, a constitutional amendment or statute can supersede case law. *State v. Johnson*, 2020 WI App 73, ¶27, 394 Wis. 2d 807, 827, 951 N.W.2d 616, 625.

which courts, attorneys, and interested parties can fully assert and understand victims' rights under statutory and constitutional law. If this Court affirms victims' standing under Wis. Stat. § 950.105 and Article I, § 9m(4), no doubts will remain about victims' ability to discern and assert their other rights.

Given the particular need for certainty at this moment, T.A.J.'s response brief will begin by arguing that the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 950.105 unambiguously provides T.A.J. (and other crime victims) standing to respond to Johnson's *Shiffra-Green* motion. The response will then address both the general question of whether Article I, § 9m applies retroactively in general, and the more specific question of whether that question applies to T.A.J. under the facts in this case. Finally, this response will argue that Article I, § 9m both ratifies crime victims' existing statutory right to standing and grants additional constitutional rights to crime victims.

### I. Wis. Stat. § 950.105 Guarantees T.A.J. Standing to Argue Against Johnson's Motion for *In Camera* Review.

Despite this Court's order to address whether Wis. Stat. § 950.105 affords standing to T.A.J., Johnson barely acknowledges, let alone engages with, the plain language of the statute titled "Standing."<sup>4</sup>

Statutory interpretation "begins with the language of the statute." State ex. rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (citing Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, ¶¶43, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 232, 612 N.W.2d 659, 669). A reviewing court should give statutory language "its common, ordinary and accepted meaning," and technical or specifically defined words or phrases should be "given their technical or special definitional meaning." Id. (citing Bruno v. Milwaukee Cty., 2003 WI 28, ¶8, 20, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656; Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1)). To discern plain meaning, Wisconsin courts also look to context and structure—in other words, the relationship of the language to "surrounding or closely-related statutes"—to avoid "absurd or unreasonable results." Id., ¶ 46 (citations omitted). Courts read statutory language "to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." Id. (citations

<sup>4</sup> Johnson claims to present a plain meaning reading, but his brief never takes the necessary first step. Rather than beginning with the language of Wis. Stat. 8 950.105. Johnson

first step. Rather than beginning with the language of Wis. Stat. § 950.105, Johnson immediately turns to isolated and unrelated phrases in Chapter 950 to assert that § 950.105's words cannot mean what they say.

6

Case 2019AP000664 BR2 - T.A.J. Filed 05-13-2021 Page 13 of 37

omitted). If this analysis provides a "plain, clear meaning," the Court finds the statute unambiguous and ends its analysis there. *Id.* (citations omitted).

Johnson concedes that the critical portions of Wis. Stat. § 950.105 unambiguously grant victims standing. Yet he maintains that such standing is not applicable in this case, or in any instance of a request for *in camera* records. Johnson's reading of the statute is wrong and leads to absurd results. The plain meaning of key words in the "Standing" statute, verified by closely related statutes and legislative history, clearly establishes that crime victims have standing to assert their rights in criminal proceedings, including their right to oppose requests for confidential and privileged records.

# A. The Phrase "Right to Assert" Means that Victims Have Standing in the Plain and Clear Meaning of that Term.

Wis. Stat. § 950.105 contains the following provision:

**Standing**. A crime victim has *the right to assert*, in a court in the county in which the alleged violation occurred, his or her rights as a crime victim under the statutes or under article 1 section 9m, of the Wisconsin Constitution. This section does not preclude a district attorney from asserting a victim's rights in a criminal case or in a proceeding or motion brought under this section.

The italicized language contains the key to this appeal—and, for victims, the courtroom. Merriam-Webster defines "assert" as "to state or declare positively and often forcefully or aggressively," or "to compel or demand acceptance or recognition of (something, such as one's authority)." Merriam-Webster, Definition of assert, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/assert (last visited May 12, 2021). The Oxford English Dictionary provides similar meanings: "To maintain the cause of, take the part of; to champion, protect, defend...To claim (something) as belonging to oneself or another, to declare one's right to, or possession of." Oxford English Dictionary (Vol. 1, 2nd Ed. 1989). "To assert" thus means to argue actively and stake a claim over one's interests. "To assert" does not mean the passive recognition of a need.

Black's Law Dictionary reinforces the inextricable connection between the verb "to assert" and the rights one possesses in the legal context: "[t]o state positively" or "[t]o invoke or enforce a legal right." Assert, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). Legal rights, unlike natural rights, derive from laws codified by a given legal system. *See* Right, *Black's Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019). Because asserting or enforcing a "legal right"

Case 2019AP000664 BR2 - T.A.J. Filed 05-13-2021 Page 14 of 37

relies on a system of laws, it cannot be detached from regular courtroom proceedings.

To "assert" a legal right means attempting to manifest it. If crime victims have the "right to assert" their legal rights, the ordinary meaning of those words necessarily must include the right to make legal arguments, request legal rulings, and otherwise engage in the system through which individuals obtain decisions about their legal rights. When Wis. Stat. § 950.105 gives victims the right "to assert" their rights, it therefore also plainly gives them standing to argue and protect their rights.

The statute title, "Standing," strongly supports this interpretation. *See Raymaker v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2006 WI App 117, ¶30, 293 Wis. 2d 392, 718 N.W.2d 154 (titles aid plain language interpretation). Merriam-Webster defines "standing" as "a position from which one may assert or enforce legal rights and duties." Merriam-Webster, *Definition of* standing (Entry 2 of 2), https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/standing (last visited May 12, 2021). The common meaning of "standing" thus reinforces the common meaning of "assert."

Together, the dictionary definitions of these words—the most important source to which courts turn to interpret a statute—confirm that Wis. Stat. § 950.105 provides victims the right to participate in and litigate proceedings about their rights. *See Kalal*, 2004 WI at ¶45 (citations omitted).

Under Johnson's interpretation, the right "to assert" means something he does not, or cannot, define. Rather than beginning with the words of this statute, Johnson begins from the faulty premise that victims' enumerated rights in Wis. Stat. § 950.04 define the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 950.105. He concludes that because Wis. Stat. § 950.04 does not expressly delineate specific legal means through which victims can utilize their standing, no such means exist. He repeatedly contends that, because Wis. Stat. § 950.04 lacks an explicit right to "lodge legal arguments," "litigate," or "file motions," T.A.J. therefore lacks standing for the same. (D. Br. 31-32). In essence, Johnson argues that Wis. Stat. § 950.105 would only afford crime victims the right to assert their rights if they had a separate right to assert their rights—a veritable Escher drawing in linguistic form that no legislature could reasonably intend to create.

T.A.J., by contrast, relies on the dictionary definitions of the key terms— "the right to assert ... rights as a crime victim"—to argue that Wis.

Stat. § 950.04 and Wis. Stat. § 950.105 are complementary statutes. Wis. Stat. § 950.04 enumerates some victims' rights and Wis. Stat. § 950.105 provides the enforcement mechanism by which victims can realize those rights as well as others in which they have an interest.

#### B. Wis. Stat. § 950.105 Authorizes Standing to Assert Rights "Under the Statutes."

This right to standing applies to any rights that properly belong to, or can be claimed by, crime victims under any and all Wisconsin statutes including T.A.J.'s privilege and confidentiality interests over his private medical records. See Wis. Stats. §§ 905.04, 146.82.

Wis. Stat. § 950.105 allows victims to assert their rights "under the statutes." "The" is a definite article that points to a particular noun. The noun here ("statutes") is the plural of "statute." Wis. Stat. § 950.105 does not modify or qualify the word. The ordinary meaning of this phrase is clear: victims have standing to assert rights from under any of "the statutes."5

Chapter 950 uses limiting language elsewhere, but not here. The statute narrows other rights to "this chapter" or a given "section." See e.g., Wis. Stat. §§ 950.03, 950.09. Chapter 950 only uses this broader phrase "under the statutes" once: § 950.105. This Court must presume the legislature chose the word "statutes" intentionally in order to afford victims standing to assert any statutory rights pertinent to a crime victim outside of Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v), including victims' rights to patient privilege (§ 905.04) and confidentiality (§ 146.82). See Kett v. Cmty. Credit Plan, Inc., 228 Wis. 2d 1, ¶¶22–23, 596 N.W.2d 786 (1999) (courts presume legislature chose words deliberately, with purpose, and that different words in an act or chapter signal significance).

Johnson does not seem to disagree with this, conceding that a crime victim has "standing to assert his or her rights...under Chapter 950...the Wisconsin Constitution, or his or her rights found elsewhere in the Wisconsin Statutes." (D Br. 30). He even embraces T.A.J.'s interpretation of "under the statutes," recognizing T.A.J.'s statutory confidentiality interest in his records. (D Br. 30).

But despite acknowledging the centrality of victim rights to Chapter 950, Johnson insists there is nothing absurd about divorcing the substantive

<sup>5</sup> This includes all applicable state statutes that implicate the legally cognizable interests of crime victims.

9

Case 2019AP000664 BR2 - T.A.J. Filed 05-13-2021 Page 16 of 37

rights under Wis. Stat. § 950.04(1v)(ag) from any direct means of enforcing those rights, such as the standing provided under Wis. Stat. § 905.105. Under Johnson's theory, all substantive rights are meaningless unless they are reinforced by statutory language that expressly describes the precise legal tools one can use to enforce each specific right.

Johnson's reasoning is unpersuasive. None of the language in Wis. Stat. § 950.105 indicates that the statute creates a radical split between substantive rights and enforcement procedures. A reviewing court cannot construe language that is not there. See, e.g., Jefferson v. Dane Cty., 2020 WI 90, ¶35, 394 Wis. 2d 602, 951 N.W.2d 556 (noting a court "will not add words the legislature did not employ"). In the larger context of other civil rights laws, Johnson's argument finds no support. Defendants are not prohibited from filing suppression motions against an unlawful search and seizure just because the Fourth Amendment does not include the phrase "a defendant has a right to file motions and litigate this right." See U.S. Const. amend. IV.

# C. Crime Victims' Rights, Including Standing Rights, Belong to Crime Victims, Not District Attorneys.

Johnson's argument that victims lack standing because litigating motions, especially *Shiffra-Green* motions, is the sole purview of a District Attorney is also contradicted by the plain language of the statute.

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